IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Eddie James Pugh, IV

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2010-KA-1902-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. State of Mississippi
- 2. Eddie James Pugh, IV, Appellant
- 3. Honorable Anthony Lawrence, III, District Attorney
- 4. Honorable Dale Harkey, Circuit Court Judge

This the $2^{15\dagger}$ day of ______, 2011

Respectfully Submitted,

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 9
ARGUMENT
CONCLUSION
CEDITIEICATE OF SEDVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

FEDERAL CASES

*606 So.2d 1029 (Miss. 1992)
Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514 (1972)
Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 23 (1967)
County of Riverside v. McLaughlin, 500 U.S. 44, 56-57, 111 S.Ct. 1661 (1991)
Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 657 (1992)
Fahy v. Connecticut, 375 U.S. 85, 86-87 (1963)
Murray v. United States, 487 U.S. 533, 536, 108 S.Ct. 2529, 2532, 101 L.Ed.2d 472, 480 (1988)
Nardone v. United States, 308 U.S. 338, 60 S.Ct. 266, 84 L.Ed. 307 (1939)
Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431, 104 S.Ct. 2501, 81 L.Ed.2d 377 (1984)
Payne v. Arkasnas, 356 U.S. 560, 568 (1958)
Silverman v. United States, 365 U.S. 505, 81 S.Ct. 679, 5 L.Ed.2d 734 (1961)
Silverthorne Lumber Co. v. United States, 251 U.S. 385, 40 S.Ct. 182, 64 L.Ed. 319 (1920) . 21
Strunk v. United States, 412 U.S. 434 (1973)
U.S. v. Marion, 404 U.S. 307 (1971)
United States v. Miller, 471 U.S. 130, 105 S.Ct. 1811 (1985)
Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 83 S.Ct. 407, 9 L.Ed.2d 441 (1963)
STATE CASES
790 So.2d 179 (Miss. 2001)
Bailey v. State, 463 So. 2d 1059, 1062 (Miss. 1985)
Bell v. State. 725 So. 2d 836, 855-56 (Miss. 1998)

Bush v. State, 895 So. 2d 836, 843 (Miss. 2005)	
Dendy v. State, 224 Miss. 208, 213, 79 So.2d 827, 829 (1955)	
Edwards v. State, 469 So. 2d 68, 70 (Miss.1985)	
Evans v. State, 725 So. 2d 613, 644 (Miss.1997)	
Flora v. State, 925 So. 2d 797, 814 (Miss. 2006)	
Flores v. State, 574 So. 2d 1314, 1318 (Miss. 1990)	
Folk v. State, 576 So. 2d 1243, 1247 (Miss. 1991)	
Golden v. State, 968 So.2d 378, 386 (Miss.2007)	
Griffin v. State, 557 So. 2d 542, 553 (Miss. 1990)	
Hansen v. State, 582 So. 2d 114, 142 (Miss. 1991)	
Jefferson v. State, 556 So.2d 1016, 1020 (Miss.1989)	
Jenkins v. State, 607 So. 2d 117 (Miss. 1992)	
McFee v. State, 511 So. 2d 130, 136 (Miss.1987)	
Nations v. State, 481 So. 2d 760, 761 (Miss. 1985)	
Pearson v. State, 248 Miss. 353, 358-59, 158 So.2d 710, 712 (1963)	
Perry v. State, 419 So. 2d 194, 198 (Miss. 1982)	
Quick v. State, 569 So. 2d 1197, 1199 (Miss. 1990)	
Ross v. State, 605 So. 2d 17, 21 (Miss. 1992)	
Ross v. State, 954 So. 2d 968, 1018 (Miss. 2007)	
Sharp v. State, 786 So. 2d 372, 381 (Miss. 2001)	
Spears v. State, 942 So. 2d 772, 774 (<oss 2006)<="" td=""><td></td></oss>	
State v. Fergusson, 576 So. 2d 1252, 1254 (Miss. 1991)	
State v. Woodall, 801 So. 2d 679, 681 (Miss. 2001)	

•

State. Stevens v. State, 808 So. 2d 908, 917 (Miss. 2002)
Swinney v. State, 829 So.2d 1225, 1234 (Miss. 2002)
Wiley v. State, 582 So. 2d 1008, 1012 (Miss. 1991)
Woods v. State, 200 Miss. 527, 27 So.2d 895, 896-897 (1946)
STATE STATUTES
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-17-20
Miss. Const. art. 3
Mississippi Code Annotated § 97-17-7
FEDERAL RULES
5th Cir. 1985
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

EDDIE JAMES PUGH, IV		APPELLANT
V.		NO. 2010-KA-1902-COA
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI		APPELLEE
	BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT	

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE ONE:

PUGH'S INDICTMENT WAS FATALLY DEFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO CONTAIN ANY AIDING AND ABETTING LANGUAGE. OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, ALLOWING THE JURY TO BE INSTRUCTED ON AIDING AND ABETTING CONSTITUTED A CONSTRUCTIVE AMENDMENT OF THE INDICTMENT.

ISSUE TWO:

THE STATE PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT PUGH OF THIRD-DEGREE ARSON.

ISSUE THREE:

WHETHER PUGH'S SPEEDY TRIAL RIGHT UNDER THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION WAS VIOLATED BY A 481 DAY DELAY WHICH PREJUDICED HIS DEFENSE AT TRIAL.

ISSUE FOUR:

THE TRIAL COURT MISAPPLIED THE INEVITABLE DISCOVERY DOCTRINE IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO ADMIT PHYSICAL EVIDENCE OBTAINED IN VIOLATION OF PUGH'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.

ISSUE FIVE:

THE VIOLATION OF UNIFORM RULE OF CIRCUIT AND COUNTY COURT PRACTICE 6.03 WARRANTS SUPPRESSION OF ALL EVIDENCE OBTAINED AS A RESULT OF THE VIOLATION.

ISSUE SIX:

WHETHER ANY OF THE ABOVE ERRORS CONCERNING VIOLATION OF PUGH'S FAIR TRIAL RIGHTS MAY BE CONSIDERED HARMLESS.

ISSUE SEVEN:

CUMULATIVE ERROR DEPRIVED PUGH OF HIS FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Eddie Pugh, the Appellant in this case, is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction on one count of capital murder, one count of aggravated assault and one count of third-degree arson against Eddie Pugh. following a trial on October 18-21, 2010. the honorable Dale Harkey, Circuit Judge, presiding. Pugh was subsequently sentenced to life imprisonment in the

custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections

FACTS

On October 8, 2008, Elliot Jones was traveling down LaRue Road, in Jackson County, Mississippi, when he saw an SUV off the side of the road with three black males behind it. (T. 467). One of those males, wearing what Jones believed to be a white shirt, shot one of the other men. (T. 468). Jones testified to hearing two to three shots. (T. 469). Jones subsequently stopped his vehicle, turned around, returned to his home and called 911. (T 469).

Jones went to the front porch of his house, and noticed a silver Scion turn around in the driveway directly across the street. (T 470). Jones estimated that this was approximately five minutes after he had returned home. (T 470). Jones and his mother subsequently followed the Scion back to the scene, where deputies had already arrived. (T 471).

Deputy Tyrone Nelson, a deputy with the Jackson County Sheriff's department was dispatched to LaRue Road. (T 458). Once he arrived, he noticed a Toyota Sequoia engulfed in flames. (T. 460). While on the scene, Deputy Nelson stopped a vehicle driven by Torrenda Whitmore. (T. 460). Whitmore was eventually taken into custody. (T. 462).

Deputy Leo Allen was also dispatched to the scene. (T. 475). When Deputy Allen arrived, he and other officers attempted to extinguish the Sequoia. (T. 476). While doing so, he observed what appeared to be a person in the back seat of the vehicle with his hands bound. (T. 476). This body would later be identified as Byron McCoy. Deputy Allen left the scene after receiving a call for assistance at the Costapia Bridge, which was approximately a quarter of a mile from the SUV. (T. 478). The call indicated that there were possibly two men under the bridge. (T. 478).

Deputy Allen waded into the water and handcuffed the two men into the water, one of whom was the Appellant, Eddie Pugh. (T. 481). As Pugh was transported to the Jackson County Sheriff's

department substation, he noticed Pugh had what appeared to be injuries to his arm. (T. 484). According to his testimony, while Deputy Allen awaited the arrival of investigators, he heard the commode flushing in Pugh's holding cell. (T. 485). Pugh had his clothes in the commode, apparently, washing them in the commode. (T. 486). Those clothes were subsequently taken into evidence. (T. 486).

Deputy Joseph Windham was the shift captain on the day of the incident. (T. 492). When responding to the call on LaRue road, he saw a school bus. (T. 494). The driver of the bus was pointing to the ditch, where Deputy Windham found a man who had been shot in the back. (T. 494). This man would later be identified as Rahman Mogilles. Deputy Windham saw an ambulance and radioed them for assistance. (T. 498).

Lieutenant Curtis Spiers, the commander of the narcotics task force of Jackson County, responded to LaRue Road. (T. 507). He arrived on the scene near Deputy Windham's location, and learned that there was a possibility of two suspects in the shooting being in the woods in the area. (T. 507-08). Spiers dispatched his agents to look for those individuals. (T. 508). When the two individuals were located under the Costapia Bridge, Commander Spiers was one of the individuals who entered the water to take them into custody. (T. 510).

Spiers testified that Pugh had burns on his hands. (T. 510). The other individual, identified as Barron Borden, appeared to have a gunshot wound to his leg. (T. 510). According to Spiers, Pugh smelled like gasoline. (T. 510).

Rahman Mogilles testified to living in New Orleans all of his life. (T. 524). Mogilles and McCoy had known each other from attending college together in Atlanta, Georgia. (T. 525). During October of 2008, McCoy had come down to New Orleans seeking employment. (T 526). Mogilles had known Eddie Pugh his entire life. (T, 528). Mogilles and McCoy went to Pugh's house in New

Orleans in order to buy marijuana. (T. 533). The two were in Pugh's SUV, a Toyota Sequoia. (T. 533). McCoy stayed in the car, and Mogilles went inside. (T. 533). Mogilles walked in, informed Pugh of his desire to purchase marijuana, and Pugh told Mogilles that he was going to have to go get it. (T. 534). From Mogilles' testimony, Pugh apparently thought that McCoy was a Department of Corrections agent. (T. 534).

Mogilles and McCoy left and went to get some food, and eventually returned to Pugh's home. (T. 534-35). Mogilles parked the car in the driveway of the house. (T. 535). When Pugh arrived, Mogilles and Pugh went inside the house and proceeded to the patio area outside. (T. 537). Pugh gave Mogilles marijuana, and Mogilles proceeded to roll it up. (T. 550). Then, Mogilles saw Borden walking through the house. (T. 551). Mogilles noticed that Borden was carrying a bag with a baseball bat hanging out of it. (T. 552). At some point, Mogilles testified he was hit in the back of the head with an object. (T. 552). Mogilles collapsed to the ground. (T. 553). He testified he was not knocked unconscious, but that he was simply laying there. (T. 553). Mogilles was picked up and dragged inside, and placed on the floor in the den. (T. 553).

Mogilles heard sounds of an altercation, and then McCoy was brought and placed on the ground next to him. (T 555). Mogilles testified that he and McCoy had their hands pulled behind their backs and were tied up with either electrical wire or a phone cord of some type. (T. 556). Mogilles testified to being dragged out of the house and placed in the SUV. (T. 558). McCoy was also dragged out into the vehicle. (T. 559).

Mogilles saw Torrenda Whitmore, Pugh's girlfriend as they were being dragged out of the house. (T. 559-60). Pugh drove the Sequoia, while Borden sat in the back of the vehicle, with the gun pressed up against McCoy's head. (T. 560). The group drove on I-10 and crossed into Mississippi. (T. 561-62). Mogilles testified to seeing a Scion that was parked in front of Pugh's

house follow them to a gas station. (T. 561). Whitmore got out of the Scion, and Pugh got out of the Sequoia and appeared agitated. (T. 563).

The cars eventually exited the interstate and ended up on LaRue road. (T 564). Mogilles testified that Pugh made a hand gesture, and seconds later, Mogilles heard a "pow." (T 564). Mogilles looked over, saw blood coming from McCoy's head, and got free from his restraints. (T. 564). Mogilles attempted to wrestle the gun from Borden's hands. (T. 564). The vehicle then stopped, and, according to Mogilles, Pugh ran and opened the back hatch of the Sequoia. (T. 566). Mogilles and Borden rolled out the back of the vehicle and were fighting over the gun. (T. 566).

Mogilles eventually let go of the gun and began running. (T. 566). Mogilles heard gunshots but kept running. (T. 566). He was eventually hit by a bullet. (T 566). Mogilles was hit twice, once in the buttocks and once in the back. (T. 566-67). Mogilles, unable to move, waited until he heard his vehicle drive off, and looked up – both vehicles were gone. (T. 571). Mogilles made a tourniquet with his clothing and "struggled back through the briar patch to the other side of the highway." (T. 571). Mogilles got the attention of the school bus, and collapsed. (T. 572).

Mogilles was eventually transported to a medical facility, had several surgeries, and stayed a total of seven days in the hospital. (T. 573). At the hospital, Mogilles spoke with the FBI and openly admitted to telling them a lie. (T. 574). Mogilles testified he lied because he was scared. (T. 574).

Dr. Paul McGarry performed the autopsy on McCoy. (T 643). Dr. McGarry found that both of McCoy's hands had been bound with telephone cord wrapped around both wrists. (T. 647). McCoy had burns over his arms and legs. (T. 647). There were also two holes going into McCoy's skull that "had the characteristics of a gunshot wound of tight contact type." (T. 647). Dr. McGarry also found some cut wounds to McCoy's left ear, a broken bone in his nose and some scrape marks

across his right forearm. (T. 662). Dr. McGarry determined the cause of death to be a double gunshot wound to the head. (T. 662).

Pascagoula Police Department Officer Louis Miller, who was assigned to the FBI task force, was also involved in investigated this case. (T. 686). At the scene of the shooting, Officer Miller recovered a .40 caliber live round, as well as some .40 caliber shell casings. (T. 690). Officer Miller observed damage to the front right bumper of the Sequoia as well as paint chips that were knocked off of the front of the vehicle when it supposedly hit an embankment. (T. 698). Officer Miller also obtained a DNA swab from Mogilles. (T 699). Officer Miller further recovered a receipt dated October 8th, 2008, from a Chevron gas station in Whitmore's purse. (T. 703-04).

Joseph Nicholson, another officer with the Pascagoula Police Department and the FBI task force also was involved in investigating the incident. Officer Nicholson and Agent Jerome Lorraine went to Pugh's house in New Orleans, after obtaining a search warrant. (T. 712-13). When he arrived in the house, he noticed a piece of cut up telephone cord laying on the bar. (T 715). Officer Nicholson also noticed reddish-colored dried spots on the floor in the dining room area of the house. (T. 720). Officer Nicholson took swabs of these dried spots. (T. 721). In the patio area of the house, he discovered more reddish stains. (T. 722-23).

The next day, Officer Nicholson and others went back to the scene on LaRue Road in order to search the surrounding area. (T. 729).

Various agencies also searched the LaRue Road scene on Saturday, October 11th. On this date, two cell phones, one of them being shot, a set of keys to a Toyota, and a .40 caliber handgun were recovered. (T. 737). Importantly, these were recovered because Pugh had led officers to them. However, because his statements to police were suppressed because of a violation of his constitutional rights, the jury was not aware of the source. (C.P. 173-74). The evidence was allowed

to be admitted, however, under the inevitable discovery exception to the exclusionary rule. (T. T. 434-36). Officer Nicholson also obtained a buccal swab from all of the suspects in the case. (T. 729-31).

Brandon Giroux a forensic firearm and toolmark examiner formerly employed at the FBI Crtime Lab in Quantico, Virginia tested various evidence in the instance case. (T. 762). Giroux tested the firearm recovered near LaRue Road and determined that the firearm would not cycle properly. (T. 774). There was debris and rust on the firearm causing it to jam every time he attempted to perform a second fire test. (T. 774). Giroux fired two test shell casings to use in comparison to the recovered shell casings submitted for analysis. (T. 778). Giroux was able to determine that the bullet fragments recovered during McCoy's autopsy as well the fragments taken from Mogilles were fired from the firearm recovered at the scene on LaRue Road. (T. 778-81). Giroux also determined that the shell casings recovered from the LaRue Road matched the firearm as well. (T. 782-83). Giroux determined that the live round fired inside the Sequoia was extracted from the submitted firearm. (T. 784).

Machelle Reid, a shoe print and tire tread examiner for the FBI Crime Lab, also analyzed evidence in the instant case. (T. 793). Reid received a shoe impression from the scene and analyzed it. (T. 796). Reid compared footwear impression on a cast to shoes submitted in the case and concluded that the footwear impression matched shoes recovered from Pugh. (T. 800-01).

Tamyra Moretti, a forensic examiner with the nuclear DNA unit at the FBI laboratory tested DNA involved in the instant case. (T. 808). Moretti was able to detect the presence of blood on Borden's clothing, but was unable to get a DNA profile from the clothes. (T. 819). Moretti confirmed the presence of blood from a swab taken on the outside of the Sequoia. (T. 822-83). The DNA profile from that swab matched that of McCov. (T. 823). A second swab taken from the back door

handle on the driver's side also matched McCoy's DNA. (T. 824). Moretti did analysis on the blood stains inside Pugh's residence in New Orleans and determined that they contained McCoy's DNA. (T. 827-28). The swab of the blood from the patio area of the house contained my Mogilles's DNA. (T. 830). Moretti performed a swab on the gun and was able to make a determination that the major contributor for DNA on the gun was McCoy. (T. 832-33). The minor contributor of DNA found on the gun was inconclusive, but Moretti was able to exclude both Pugh and Borden as contributors. (T. 833).

After Moretti's testimony, the State rested. (T. 838). The defense moved for a directed verdict, which was denied by the trial court. (T. 840-41).

After deliberations, the jury returned a verdict of guilty of capital murder, aggravated assault and third-degree arson. (C.P. 229-31, R.E.14-16).. In a subsequent sentencing phase, the jury unanimously returned a sentence of life without eligibility of parole in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. (C.P. 231, R.E. 16). The trial court sentenced Pugh to an additional twenty years for the aggravated assault conviction, as well as an additional three years for the third-degree arson. (C.P. 231, R.E. 16). Pugh was sentenced to serve all three sentences consecutively. (C.P. 231, R.E. 16).

On October 26, 2010, trial counsel filed a Motion for New Trial, or, in the Alternative, for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict. (C.P. 232-34, R.E. 17-19). This motion was denied by the trial court on November 5, 2010 (C.P. 240, R.E. 20). Feeling aggrieved by the verdict and sentence, Pugh filed his timely notice of appeal on November 15, 2010. (C.P. 241, R.E. 21).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Pugh's indictment did not contain any aiding and abetting language. Accordingly, the

indictment was fatally defective. Because the State's theory at trial was that he was either the principle or acting as an aider and abetter, Pugh's indictment failed to adequately provide him notice of the cause against him. Alternatively, if the indictment was sufficient, the trial court erred in allowing the jury to be instructed on aiding and abetting, as it constituted a constructive amendment of the indictment.

The State prevented insufficient evidence to convict Pugh of third-degree arson. The State presented positively no testimony as to the value of the vehicle charged in the indictment. Accordingly, Pugh's arson conviction should be reversed and rendered.

Pugh's right to a speedy trial under the United States Constitution was violated by the 481-day delay. A balancing of the *Barker* factors weighs in his favor. Accordingly, the trial court erred in failing to dismiss the charges against him.

The trial court misapplied the inevitable discovery doctrine when it allowed physical evidence obtained as a result of Pugh's impermissible statements to be admitted in trial.

The violation of Uniform Rule of Circuit and County Court Practice 6.03 warrants suppression of the evidence obtained as a result. Rule 6.03 requires criminal defendants to be given an initial appearance withing 48 hours of arrest. In the instant case, Pugh did not have an initial appearance until five days after his arrest. During the course of this violation, Pugh made statements to police that were ultimately suppressed. However, the evidence obtained was allowed to be admitted. Because this evidence was admitted despite the violation of Rule 6.03, the trial court erred and Pugh is entitled to a new trial.

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