## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# **EDDIE PUGH, IV**

VS.

APPELLANT

NO. 2010-KA-1902-COA

### **STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

APPELLEE

## **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

## JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

.

BY: LISA L. BLOUNT SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

#### Prejudice to the defendant.

Pugh does not bear the burden of proving actual prejudice in this case. "[W]hen the length of delay is presumptively prejudicial, the burden of persuasion is on the State to show that the delay did not prejudice the defendant. *State v. Ferguson*, 576 So.2d 1252, 1254 (Miss.1991). However, if the defendant fails to make a showing of actual prejudice to his defense, this prong of the balancing test cannot weigh heavily in his favor. *Polk v. State*, 612 So.2d 381, 387 (Miss.1992)."*Stevens v. State*, 808 So.2d 908, 917 -918 (Miss.,2002). The Supreme Court explained in *Duplantis v. State*, 708

So.2d 1327 (Miss.1998) that prejudice to the defendant may manifest itself in two ways. First, the defendant may suffer because of the restraints to his liberty, whether it be the loss of his physical freedom, loss of a job, loss of friends or family, damage to his reputation, or anxiety. Second, the delay may actually impair the accused's ability to defend himself. Id. at 1336.

Pugh did not suffer unreasonable restraints to his liberty as a result of the delay. On October 14, 2008, a week following his arrest on state charges, the federal government arrested Pugh, effectively placing Pugh in the custody of the federal authorities. On May 12, 2009, Pugh was convicted on the federal kidnaping charges and received two life sentences in federal prison. The State submits Pugh had been, in effect, a federal prisoner since October 14, 2008. "[A] defendant cannot complain of restrictions on his liberty interests which occur during the time in which he was serving another sentence." *Id.* at 1336.

Pugh contends on appeal that the delay of knowing whether he would face the death penalty caused him anxiety. While the Supreme Court has never stated that such concern and anxiety are to be dismissed without consideration, it has held that "anxiety alone does not amount to prejudice worthy of reversal." *Stevens.* 808 So.2d at 918 (quoting *Kolberg v. State*, 704 So.2d 1307, 1319 (Miss.1997).

The delay did not actually impair Pugh's ability to defend himself. The *Barker* court stated that the possibility that the defense will be impaired is the most important of the interests named above. *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 532, 92 S.Ct. at 2182. On appeal, Pugh does not claim that because of the delay witnesses scheduled to testify for the defense disappeared or that any evidence was lost or destroyed or any actual prejudice was incurred. There is no showing of Pugh being prejudiced to an extent that he could not defend against the charge, nor is there any indication that the State engaged in oppressive conduct.

17

Considering Pugh's failure to allege any impairment to his defense and the fact that all of Pugh's incarceration, with the exception of one week, could be attributed to his federal charges and conviction, this factor weighs in favor of the State. Upon examination of the *Barker* factors and in consideration of the totality of the circumstances, the balance in this case supports the State's contention that Pugh was not denied his constitutional right to a speedy trial. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting Pugh's motion to dismiss. Accordingly, this assignment of error is without merit.

#### **PROPOSITION IV:** The trial court did not misapply the inevitable discovery doctrine.

Pugh contends the trial court misapplied the inevitable discovery doctrine when it allowed the murder weapon, cells phones and keys located in the area of the crime scene to be admitted into evidence. The gun used to murder McCoy and shoot Mogilles was found approximately 200 feet from where the SUV was stopped and the cell phones and SUV keys were found approximately 50 feet from the SUV. (Tr. 742-46). The trial court, on motion of the defense, suppressed statements Pugh gave to officers on October 10<sup>th</sup> and October 11<sup>th</sup> as being involuntary. (C.P. 169-74). Pugh argued the evidence was also inadmissible as "fruit of the poisonous tree." However, the trial court ruled the evidence admissible under the inevitable discovery doctrine. (T. 434-36).

According to Pascagoula Police Officer Joseph Nicholson with the FBI Safe Streets Task Force, four to five separate agencies were involved in searching four different locations and interviewing witnesses or suspects. An ATF search team with dogs trained to detect powder residue from a gun, planned on coming to search the area each day until the Sheriff's Department "called and told them they didn't have to come back." (T. 424). According to Nicholson they would have eventually found the gun, cell phones and keys. In addition to the gun being evidence in a murder, there was also a public safety issue with children traveling the area and finding a loaded gun. (T. 421; 426). In conducting a search, they start with what is logical, it they believed the defendants stayed on the same side of the road, then they would start their search on that side and focus the most manpower at that location. If they didn't find the gun in an area then they would expand their search.

On October 11<sup>th</sup> Pugh was at the crime scene on Larue Road with officers showing them the

path he and Borden took after fleeing the burning SUV. At the suppression hearing, FBI Agent

Lorrain testified:

as we were walking through the woods, I was kind of asking [Pugh], you know, which direction to look in or which direction did [Pugh and Borden] run in, and [Pugh] was telling me to his best of his knowledge where they had went.

(Tr. 429)

According to Agent Lorrain he had every intention of going to the crime scene at Larue Road

and searching for the weapon, or directing someone else to search.

[F]inding the gun was paramount in our minds of something that we needed to do. And, you know, we knew the location where the incident had taken place and we knew the location where Eddie Pugh and Barron Borden had been arrested, so we knew that it was somewhere from point A to point B. We just didn't know the exact spot.

(Tr. 430).

. . . .

The .... sheriff's department deputies, the ATF agents, the FBI Safe Streets Task Force people. And we weren't all bunched up in one particular area. Basically, we kind of fanned out and was kind of walking the general area, because Eddie couldn't tell us exactly where he, where the gun was thrown. He wasn't even so specific where he could say, we definitely went in the woods here and, you know, this location right here. He was just trying to remember generally about where they were at. And then once we got in the woods, we doubled back a few times, kind of looking, because he wasn't specific about where they were at. He was just trying to recollect the direction they were going, so we kind of all spanned out and was looking in all different areas, just hoping to come across the gun.

(Tr. 433).

The evidence is admissible under the inevitable discovery doctrine as outlined by the Supreme

Court in *Nix v. Williams*, 467 U.S. 431, 104 S.Ct. 2501, 81 L.Ed.2d 377 (1984). Where evidence obtained by illegal means would ultimately or inevitably have been discovered by lawful means, the evidence is admissible, regardless of whether the police acted in good faith. Under the so-called "inevitable discovery doctrine. Id. The inevitable discovery exception is grounded on being reasonable.

In order for evidence to be admitted under the inevitable discovery exception, the government must demonstrate (1) a reasonable probability that the evidence would have been discovered by lawful means but for the police misconduct; (2) that the police possessed the leads making the discovery inevitable at the time of the misconduct; and (3) that the police were actively pursuing the alternate line of investigation prior to the misconduct. Id.; *United States v. Cherry*, 759 F.2d 1196, 1204 (5th Cir.1985).

By a preponderance of the evidence the State showed that given the numerous state and federal agencies searching the area of the crime scene surrounding Larue Road, the police would have inevitably discovered the gun, keys and cell phones. Prior to October 11<sup>th</sup>, the police had already commenced a search of the area with manpower from four different agencies, ATF dogs and a dive team. As previously stated, Officer Nicholson and FBI Agent Lorrain both testified they would not have ended the search until they found the murder weapon. Clearly, with the on-going methodical search as described by Lorrain, the evidence would have eventually been discovered, regardless of whether Pugh had been taken to the scene and told authorities the area where he and Borden ran. The officers wanted the gun for evidentiary purposes in the criminal prosecution and also for public safety, they would have continued looking for the gun until they found it. The "necessity" of finding the weapon would have led to police searching the area until the weapon was eventually located. This issue lacks merit.

20

# PROPOSITION V: The trial court did not err in denying Pugh's motion to suppress evidence based on a violation of Uniform Rule of Circuit and County Court Practice 6.03.

Pugh also argues the State's violation of Uniform Rule of Circuit and County Court Practice 6.03 warrants suppressing the gun, cell phones and keys. Rule 6.03 provides that persons in custody shall be taken without unnecessary delay and within forty-eight hours of arrest before a judicial officer or another authorized person for an initial appearance. At the initial appearance, the judicial officer or other authorized person shall, among other tasks, advise the accused of his rights, amend the formal charge if necessary, inform the defendant of the formal charge, and ascertain that probable cause existed for an arrest made without a warrant. URCCC 6.03

In the case at hand, the trial court ruled Pugh's statements on October 9, 10 and the 11<sup>th</sup> were inadmissible. Pugh contends if Rule 6.03 had been followed, Pugh would have been afforded an attorney and in turn would not have led officers to the evidence. (Appellant's brief p.24).

The State's alleged violation of Rule 6.03 does not warrant suppression of all evidence obtained as a result of the violation. Under the inevitable discovery doctrine, as discussed in the previous issue, the evidence was admissible. *Nix v. Williams*, 467 U.S. 431, 104 S.Ct. 2501, 2509, 81 L.Ed.2d 377 (1984).

Failure to provide an initial appearance within 48 hours is not, in itself, a reason to suppress a confession, much less to dismiss a case. See *Stewart vs. State*, 881So.2d 919 (Miss. App. 2004). At the suppression hearing, the trial judge ruled did not find a violation of Rule 6.03:

What I'm hearing, an individual with a lengthy criminal history is on probation from another state, in custody under questionable circumstances, and certainly no formal charges being filed, whether Rule 6.03 in fact has been violated is in serious doubt, and I do not understand any remedy for a 6.03 violation to be a dismissal, complete dismissal. So, for that reason, at this time I will deny your Motion to Dismiss in regard to the request to dismiss as a result of the violation of Rule 6.03, at this point in time. I'm not entirely satisfied that Rule 6.03 has been violated. What I've been informed, what I've heard here, the situation involving nonresidents of the State of Mississippi apparently traveling to Mississippi, having circumstances obviously first encountered by law enforcement of such a nature as a number of individuals involved, rendering the proper procedure to be somewhat in doubt, I mean, you know, given the circumstances of law enforcement's involvement, a defendant who is on probation from another state. (Tr. 63, 64).

Pugh relies on *Abram v. State*, 606 So.2d 1015, 1029 (Miss.1992), where the Supreme Court found reversible error in part due to failure to provide an initial appearance according to Rule 6.03. In *Abram*, the Supreme Court found that the confession was coerced, and that the State would not have obtained the uncounseled confession if the defendant had been provided a timely initial appearance and access to counsel. *Abram*, 606 So.2d at 1029. However, in *Abram*, the defendant's conviction relied solely upon his confession. In contrast to *Abram*, Pugh's conviction did not rely solely upon admission of the weapon, cell phones and keys. In fact, there was overwhelming evidence of Pugh's guilt. Two eye witnesses, the physical evidence found in the SUV, the burns on his arms, in addition to the DNA evidence found at Larue Road and at his house in New Orleans prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Pugh was in fact guilty of arson, aggravated assault and capital murder.

However, should this Court find error in the admission of the evidence, the State contends that such error was harmless. Without admitting error, the State contends that "In order for a violation of a constitutional right to be held harmless, this Court must determine that the violation was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." *Haynes v. State*, 934 So.2d 983 (Miss. 2006) (quoting *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 23, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967)). "Similarly, our supreme court has held 'errors involving a violation of an accused's constitutional rights may be deemed harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where the weight of the evidence against the accused is overwhelming.' "Id. (quoting *Clark v. State*, 891 So.2d 136, 142(¶ 29) (Miss.2004)). The Supreme Court recently stated the basic, harmless-error test in instances of constitutional error is " 'whether it appears

'beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained.'" Brown v. State, 995 So.2d 698, 704 (Miss. 2008) (quoting Thomas v. State, 711 So.2d 867, 872 (Miss.1998))." Goforth v. State 2011 WL 4089967, 11(Miss. 2011). As previously stated, the overwhelming weight of the evidence supports Pugh's conviction.

## PROPOSITION VI: The trial court did not commit reversible or harmless error, therefore, no cumulative error deprived Pugh of his fundamental right to a fair trial.

The State combines it response to Pugh's last two issues. The issues raised by Pugh on appeal do not show the trial court committed any reversible error, or harmless error. However, the State respectfully submits the trial court did not err.

In Pugh's final issue he argues that he is entitled to have his conviction reversed and rendered or remanded for a new trial because the cumulative effect of the trial court's errors he has raised warrants such a holding. Individual errors, not reversible in themselves, may combine with other errors to make up reversible error. *Wilburn v. State*, 608 So.2d 702, 705 (Miss.1992). However, if there are no reversible individual errors, it stands to reason that there can be no cumulative error. *Gibson v. State*, 731 So.2d 1087, 1098(¶31) (Miss.1998). The State submits that Pugh's issues were without merit. Therefore, without the finding of error, either harmless or harmful, there can be no finding of error worthy of remand for a new trial in the whole.

## CONCLUSION

The State submits that after a careful review of the record in this case this Court will find that Pugh received a fair trial, wherein he was represented by able counsel, the properly admitted evidence upon which he was convicted leaves no room for reasonable doubt that he was guilty of murder, arson and aggravated assault. Based upon these arguments presented herein as supported by the rulings of the trial court and record on appeal, the State would ask this reviewing Court to affirm the jury's verdict.